ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Derham Cole, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2011-CP-42-4538
Appellate Case No. 2014-000902

Gary G. Harris, Appellant,

v.

Tietex International Ltd., Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Fred Suggs, Esq.
**OGLETREE DEAKINS NASH SMOAK
& STEWART PC**
PO Box 2757
Greenville, SC 29602

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

D. Alan Lazenby, Esq.
Ginger D. Goforth, Esq.
LAZENBY LAW FIRM, LLC
PO Box 6099
Spartanburg, SC 29304
Phone: (864) 804-5050
Fax: (864) 804-5051

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED
DEC 23 2014
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S DEFAMATION CAUSE OF ACTION BASED ON THE DOCTRINE OF COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL.
- II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S DEFAMATION CAUSE OF ACTION BASED ON THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND RES JUDICATA.
- III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S DEFAMATION CAUSE OF ACTION BECAUSE APPELLANT ESTABLISHED GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT FOR TRIAL.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 21, 2011, Gary G. Harris ("Harris or "Appellant") filed the pro se Complaint in this action, alleging various claims arising from the termination of his employment with Tietex International, Ltd. ("Tietex" or "Respondent"). (R. p. 70). Attorney D. Alan Lazenby filed a Notice of Appearance on behalf of Harris on March 8, 2012. (R. p. 79). On April 6, 2012, Harris moved to amend his complaint. (R. p. 81). Tietex opposed this motion. This motion was granted, and Harris filed his Amended Complaint on September 5, 2012, raising claims for breach of contract, breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act, defamation, and intentional infliction of emotional distress. (R. p. 83). Tietex timely answered.

On or about May 1, 2013, Tietex moved for Summary Judgment. (R. p. 107). Tietex based this motion in large part on the Report and Recommendation of the United States Magistrate and the Opinion and Order of the United States District Court in C.A. No. 7:08-CV-03020-JMC, a prior federal case brought by Harris, pro se, alleging violations of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act ("ADEA"), 29 U.S.C. § 621. et seq. (R. pp. 37-38). Tietex moved on the following grounds: (1) collateral estoppel, (2)

res judicata, (3) statute of limitations, and (4) generally, that no genuine issue of material fact existed as to any of Harris's claims.

The Honorable Frank Addy, Circuit Court Judge, heard arguments on this motion on August 30, 2013. (R. p. 574). On September 23, 2013, Judge Addy issued his Order Denying Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. This Order was filed on October 17, 2013. (R. p. 33). Judge Addy denied the Motion for Summary Judgment based on the ground that none of Harris's claims were barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel. Judge Addy determined that all of Harris's claims should go forward to trial.

On January 27, 2014, Tietex filed a Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. p. 349). Tietex acknowledged that its first motion was based on collateral estoppels. This time, Tietex moved on the following grounds: (1) statute of limitations, (2) res judicata, and (3) generally, that no genuine issue of material fact existed as to any of Harris's claims. This motion was argued before the Honorable J. Derham Cole on February 6, 2014. (R. p. 533). At the hearing, Harris withdrew all claims but his cause of action for defamation. On February 18, 2014, Attorneys Alan Lazenby and Ginger Goforth were relieved as counsel, and Judge Cole granted Tietex's Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 1, 26).

Harris timely filed this Notice of Appeal on April 15, 2014.

FACTS/PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This action has a convoluted history, compounded in no small part by Tietex's constant efforts to delay and obstruct Harris's prosecution of his claims. The details provide necessary and important background for the Court.

Harris initially brought an action in the Court of Common Pleas for Spartanburg County on August 15, 2008, C.A. No.: 2008-CP-42-4316, alleging claims against Tietex

for violation of the ADEA, as well as state law claims for breach of contract, breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act, and defamation. (R. p. 61). Tietex removed the case to the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina, Spartanburg Division, on the basis of federal question jurisdiction over the ADEA claim. The District Court granted summary judgment as to Harris's ADEA claim, declined to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the pendent state law claims, and dismissed them without prejudice. Harris's state law claims were protected by the tolling provision of 28 U.S.C. § 1367(d).

Harris timely filed the present action, pro se, in state court, asserting his state law claims over which the District Court had declined jurisdiction. He thereafter retained counsel, who moved on April 6, 2012 to amend the complaint. Tietex objected to the amendment. The motion was ultimately granted. Harris filed an amended complaint on September 5, 2012. Harris has since that time fought an uphill battle to conduct discovery in order to pursue his claims.¹

In December of 2012, Harris sought to depose Tietex witness and employee Wade Wallace ("Wallace"). Harris had successfully worked for Tietex for 13 years, and by 2007 was a Senior Chemist and Technical Manager. Wallace became Harris's immediate supervisor for the six month period prior to his termination. Wallace was a crucial witness, and Harris's claims were directly related to his conduct. Nonetheless,

¹ By April of 2009, Harris's attorney original attorney, Richard Stewart, had conducted no discovery. Stewart shortly thereafter informed Harris that he was going into another area of law practice, and notified Harris that he was turning his case over to his partner, Jason Kellett. Kellett was disbarred two months later. Harris proceeded pro se until he retained new counsel, Candy Kern-Fuller, who was required file a motion in order to be allowed the right to depose witnesses. Harris was limited to three depositions. (R. p. 58).

on January 11, 2013, Tietex filed a motion for a protective order to prevent the examination of Wallace. (R. p. 93). In the interim, Tietex filed its first Motion for Summary Judgment, before Harris had even been able to take the first deposition in this case.

The Motion for Protective Order was later denied, and Wade Wallace was finally deposed on June 12, 2013.² Wallace had given prior sworn testimony in a number of forums, and more than one day was required for his deposition to fully explore the numerous inconsistencies in his testimony. Tietex refused to make Wallace available for a second day, and on June 17, 2013, filed a Motion for Protective Order Prohibiting or Limiting any Further Deposition of Wallace. Harris ultimately successfully obtained additional time by court order to complete the deposition. (R. pp. 35, 286).

On June 28, 2013, Harris noticed the depositions of Tietex witnesses George Henderson, Patricia Guzman, and Timothy Isbell. On July 2, 2013, in direct response to these subpoenas, Tietex filed a Motion to Stay Pending Ruling on Tietex's Motion for Summary Judgment, effectively cutting off any further discovery for Harris. (R. p. 294). On July 25, 2013, Tietex filed an additional Motion for Protective Order to block the proposed depositions of Tietex's Owner, Martin Wildeman and President, Reed Cunningham. (R. p. 311).

At this point in the litigation, Harris, despite his best efforts, had been allowed to depose a single witness. The Motion for Summary Judgment was heard on August 20, 2013. Contrary to Tietex's assertions, the Motion for Summary Judgment was denied on the grounds that collateral estoppel did not establish certain facts for the record. It was

² Wallace was deposed on the record for 6.3 hours on June 12, 2013.

not denied on the basis that discovery was not complete. Still, Tietex had made – and continued to make - every effort to block Harris's access to evidence.

For example, Harris requested a site visit to photograph the conditions of his working environment at Tietex on November 18, 2013, months before trial. Tietex refused the request, and, again, Harris was required to file a formal motion to obtain access to evidence to which he was absolutely entitled. (R. p. 329). Tietex vigorously resisted this motion, which the trial court ultimately granted on January 10, 2014. (R. p. 28).

Tietex makes much of the two witness depositions that Harris cancelled prior to trial. However, at that point, and after years of incessant and unnecessary wrangling with Tietex over basic discovery issues, Harris had to make difficult decisions concerning his case in order to continue to fund the litigation. Nonetheless, Harris has raised genuine issues of material fact, as noted below, that preclude summary judgment in this action.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S DEFAMATION CAUSE OF ACTION BASED ON THE DOCTRINE OF COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL.

Collateral estoppel does not bar Harris's pursuit of his state law claims in state court. Collateral estoppel, or issue preclusion, is an equitable doctrine that generally bars the relitigation of issues actually and necessarily determined in an earlier proceeding by a valid and final judgment, and then, only if the determination was essential to the judgment. The party asserting collateral estoppel bears the burden of proving that (1) the issue was actually litigated in the prior action, (2) the issue was directly determined in the prior action, and (3) the issue was necessary to support the

prior judgment. Carolina Renewal, Inc. v. South Carolina Dep't of Transp., 385 S.C. 550, 684 S.E.2d 779, 782 (Ct. App. 2009).

The Court of Appeals has warned that collateral estoppel should not be rigidly applied. Even if all of the elements are met, courts may refuse to apply it when "unfairness or injustice results or public policy requires it." Carolina Renewal, 684 S.E.2d at 782. Among these exceptions is the situation where the burden of proof on the cause of action litigated in the first suit differs significantly from the burden in the second suit. RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF JUDGMENTS § 28 (1982).

The Supreme Court has further emphasized that all of the facts necessary to prove the material elements of the second suit must have been the same ones decided in the first suit for collateral estoppel to bar a second suit based upon different causes of action. Jones v. City of Folly Beach, 326 S.C. 360, 483 S.E.2d 770, 774 (1997), citing Dunlap v. Travelers Ins. Co., 223 S.C. 150, 74 S.E.2d 828 (1953). The inquiry must focus on the points actually litigated and determined in the prior action, not what might have been litigated and determined. Id. at 831. The Court has cautioned that collateral estoppel does not apply to speculative comparisons of factual issues not directly determined in a final decision. Jones, 483 S.E.2d at 774, Dunlap 74 S.E.2d at 828.

The only issue decided by the District Court was that Harris failed to prove age-based discrimination under the ADEA. The District Court, adopting the Magistrate's Report and Recommendation stated: "The Magistrate Judge determined that Defendant articulated deficiencies in Plaintiff's performance in memoranda dated March 5, June 18, and July 17, 2007, and found that Plaintiff did not establish a prima facie case of age discrimination under the ADEA because he failed to provide evidence

that established that he was meeting his employer's legitimate expectations at the time of the adverse action." (R. p. 37).

The trial court made the untenable and unsupported finding that the District Court made the following findings of "fact": (1) that Harris's job performance did not meet Tietex's expectations; (2) that Tietex had a legitimate reason to discharge Harris; and (3) that Harris cannot establish that the reason given was pretext.

None of the three purported "fact findings" was actually determined by the District Court under the same standard of proof in play on Harris's state law claims. Further, these "facts" were neither necessary to support the District Court's judgment, nor essential to the resolution of the ADEA claim.

To prove an ADEA claim, Harris was required to show that, but for his age, his employment would not have been terminated. Gross v. FBL Financial Services, Inc., 557 U.S. 167 (2009). The United States Supreme Court has placed the burden of persuasion squarely on an ADEA plaintiff. As such, Harris was required to prove by a preponderance of evidence that age, and age alone, was the reason he was terminated. 29 U.S.C. § 623(a). To allege a *prima facie* case under the ADEA, a plaintiff must show that (1) he is a member of a protected class, (2) he suffered an adverse employment action, (3) he was performing his job duties at a level that met his employer's legitimate expectations at the time of the adverse employment action, and (4) the position remained open or was filled by similarly qualified applicant outside the protected class. Hill v. Lockheed Martin Logistics Management, Inc., 354 F.3d 277, 285 (4th Cir. 2004). Once this is done – the Fourth Circuit, at least – the burden shifts to the employer to proffer a nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse action.

The District Court found that Harris did not prove that he was performing his job duties at a level that met Tietex's stated expectations. The perception of the employer is critical in deciding issues under the ADEA, and the District Court clearly evaluated the evidence from Tietex's subjective point of view. Hawkins v. PepsiCo, 203 F.3d 274 (4th Cir. 2000). This is not equivalent to a finding that Tietex's proffered reasons for firing Harris were true and taken as fact.

Absent direct evidence of intentional discrimination, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals analyzes ADEA claims under the burden-shifting framework of McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973). Warch v. Ohio Casualty Ins. Co., 435 F.3d 510 (4th Cir. 2006). The burden shifting analysis should only be undertaken where the plaintiff meets the prima facie case.³ The District Court, despite finding that Harris did not meet his prima facie case, applied this analysis anyway. Accordingly, any "facts" alleged by Tietex and accepted by the trial court to be determined in the burden shifting analysis were therefore unnecessary to the District Court judgment, and not binding on him in this action.

The relative burdens of production and persuasion involved in the McDonnell Douglas analysis have been recently clarified. In Robinson v. Fred Store, Inc., 2013 WL 4505406 (August 22, 2013), the Court held that where a plaintiff established a prima

³ The Supreme Court has held that the ADEA does not authorize "mixed-motive" discrimination claims. If a plaintiff cannot establish "but for" causation, the burden does not shift to the employer to show that it would have taken action regardless of age, even when the plaintiff may have adduced some evidence that age was a contributing factor in his termination. Gross, 557 U.S. at 175-180. However, there is some question whether the Fourth Circuit has adopted this approach. See Miller v. HSBC Fin. Corp., No. 08-1942, 2009 WL 3233490 (D.S.C. 2009)(finding that in the absence of further direction from the Supreme Court, the district court judge would follow Fourth Circuit precedent, which applies the McDonnell Douglas framework to ADEA claims). Therefore, Harris addresses the District Court's application of the framework.

facie case of discrimination, the burden shifts to the employer to proffer a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the dismissal. The burden then shifts back to the employee to prove that the reason is pretextual. Significantly, the employer does not have to **prove** a nondiscriminatory reason; it simply needs to offer one into evidence.⁴ It is a burden of production, not persuasion. St. Mary's Honor Ctr. v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502, 506 (1993). The Court also recognized that "it is not necessary for a court to 'decide whether the reason was wise, fair, or even correct, ultimately, so long as it truly was the reason for the [the defendant's decision].'" Robinson, 2013 WL 4505406 at *6, citing Hawkins v. PepsiCo, 203 F.3d 274, 279 (4th Cir. 2000).

In other words, Tietex did not have to prove a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason to prevail on the ADEA claim. It only needed to satisfy the burden of production by proffering one. The burden, this time of proof, then shifted to Harris to prove the articulated reason was false. Therefore, even if the District Court "found" that Tietex had a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for discharging Harris, that finding was not essential to Harris's claim

The District Court found that Harris did not meet the burden of proving that, but for his age, he would not have been terminated. That is the only factual inquiry necessary with respect to the ADEA claim, and the only finding of fact binding on Harris in the present action. Therefore, he could assert age as the factual basis of any of his claims in this action, and he did not do so.

⁴ "Proffer" means to offer or tender, as, the production of a document and offer of the same in evidence. "Proof", on the other hand, is defined as the effect of evidence; the establishment of a fact by evidence. To "prove" is to establish or make certain. Black's Law Dictionary (6th Ed. 1990).

Even assuming the "facts" asserted by Tietex and adopted by the trial court were binding on this litigation, they do not bar Harris's state law defamation claim. Tietex could still be liable for defamation, even if it had a legitimate reason to fire Harris.

Finally, that Tietex asked the Court to decide the case by way of summary judgment militates in favor of declining to apply collateral estoppel. Summary judgment should be cautiously invoked so that it will not improperly deprive a party of a trial of disputed issues. Baughman v. American Tel. & Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537, 543 (1991). Tietex had the burden of proving all of the elements of collateral estoppels, and the trial court erred in finding that it had done so. The "facts" Tietex raised and the trial court adopted were not essential to proving Harris's claim; rather, they were simply proffers of evidence that Harris did not **disprove** under the burden shifting framework applicable to his ADEA claim. In resisting Tietex's summary judgment motion on the issue of collateral estoppel, Harris only needed to submit a scintilla of evidence. See Hancock v. Mid-South Management Co., 381 S.C. 326, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009). He more than satisfied that burden.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S DEFAMATION CAUSE OF ACTION BASED ON THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND RES JUDICATA.

Harris stated a cause of action for defamation. Tietex twisted Harris's deposition testimony to create "additional" defamation claims that it asserted were not "raised" in the federal action. Specifically, it points to his deposition testimony concerning three instances of defamatory conduct on the part of Tietex that all occurred in 2007, within the six months prior to his discharge. Tietex posits that because these specific evidentiary facts supporting the properly pleaded defamation claim were not set forth in

the original complaint, then Harris is time barred from relying on those facts to support his defamation claim.

This position, adopted by the trial court, has no merit.

Harris properly stated a cause of action for defamation in his original action. (R. p. 61, ¶¶ 39-46). South Carolina requires notice pleading. The purpose of a pleading is to provide "fair notice to the opponent and the court." Watts v. Metro Security Agency, 346 S.C. 235, 550 S.E.2d 869, 871 (Ct. App. 2001). Under Rule 8, SCRCPP, a pleading must contain "ultimate facts" rather than "evidentiary facts" in order to state a cause of action. Such facts fall "somewhere between the verbosity of evidentiary facts and the sparsity of legal conclusions." Id. (citations omitted). Harris's cause of action for defamation, filed on August 15, 2008, met this standard by alleging that Tietex issued false statements about him containing a defamatory meaning, that these statements concerned his competence and acumen in his profession, that the statements were published to third parties with actual malice and/or reckless disregard of the truth, and that he suffered specific legal and special damages. Rule 8 requires no more. Harris was not obliged - as the trial court apparently found - to specify in his complaint each piece of evidence supporting his defamation claim. Harris's original pleading was more than sufficient to put Tietex on notice of his defamation claim.

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