THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Derham Cole, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2011-CP-42-2538
Appellate Case No. 2014-000902

Gary G. Harris, Appellant,

v.

Tietex International, Ltd., Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
DEC 15 2014
SC Court of Appeals

Fred W. Suggs, Jr. (S.C. Bar No. 5423)
Lucas J. Asper (S.C. Bar No. 77902)
OGLETREE, DEAKINS, NASH,
SMOAK & STEWART, P.C.
300 North Main Street, Suite 500
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 271-1300 (telephone)
(864) 235-4754 (facsimile)
fred.suggs@ogletreedeakins.com
lucas.asper@ogletreedeakins.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

That there was a question of fact for the jury to determine in *Murray* regarding whether the supervisor abused the qualified privilege is obvious based on the clear factual

disputes the plaintiff identified based on actual evidence.¹¹ Conversely, Harris relies on nothing more than his own subjective assessment regarding the veracity of the performance-related memoranda. This is not evidence from which a jury could reasonably conclude that Tietex abused the qualified privilege that inherently applies to these memoranda as a matter of law. Given Harris' failure to identify a legitimate question of fact, "it is for the court to say . . . whether or not the privilege has been abused or exceeded." *Fountain*, 398 S.C. at 444, 730 S.E.2d at 310 (quoting *Woodward*, 297 S.C. at 32-33, 292 S.E.2d at 601); *see also* Restatement (Second) of Torts § 619, cmt. b (noting that the court should decide if the privilege has been abused where only one conclusion can reasonably be drawn).

C. Harris Failed to Present Any Credible Evidence to Support his Three Unclear and Ill-Defined Allegations of Non-Written Defamation.

As with Harris' defamation claim regarding the February 2007 e-mail discussed above, Harris appears to have abandoned each of his three remaining defamation claims, all of which were unclear and ill-defined to begin with. However, Tietex will briefly analyze each of these three claims below to ensure clarity regarding the meritless nature of the claims.

¹¹ Significantly, the *Murray* Court concluded that "the trial judge did not err in initially concluding [the supervisor] was protected by a qualified privilege" in making the statement to the plaintiff's co-workers regarding the plaintiff being fired for theft. *Id.* at 141; 542 S.E.2d at 749. The Court simply held that there existed a jury question regarding whether the supervisor had abused that privilege based on the clear factual dispute—supported by documentary evidence and third-party testimony—regarding whether the supervisor made the statement in good faith. *Id.* Here, the qualified privilege applies as a matter of law to all of the internal, performance-related memoranda, and Harris presented no evidence that the privilege was abused.

1. *“Rumors in the Industry.”*

Harris’ fifth defamation claim arose from his contention that there were “rumors in the industry that [he] w[as] terminated from Tietex for falsifying a test report.” (R. p. 695.) Harris never identified an actual statement that Tietex made with respect to these “rumors.” Rather, Harris simply contended that he spoke to two former Tietex employees who allegedly informed him that they had heard about rumors being spread about him. (R. pp. 720-30.) Harris never alleged that Tietex was the actual source of these alleged rumors, and he never produced a witness to testify about what Tietex supposedly said.

In the absence of any such allegations or testimony, the trial court properly ruled that this defamation claim could not overcome Tietex’s motion for summary judgment. Rule 56(e), SCRC, requires a party desiring to oppose summary judgment with testimony to “set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence.” Harris’ claim regarding “rumors in the industry” is based on inadmissible hearsay. Accordingly, Harris failed to establish there was a statement or that Tietex published the statement, let alone prove the remaining elements of this claim.

2. *Harris’ July 2007 Suspension with Full Pay.*

Harris’ sixth defamation claim alleged that Tietex defamed him by suspending his employment, with full pay and benefits, in July 2007. (R. p. 695.) The only statements Harris identified for this claim were (1) Wallace’s telephone call to Harris in which he informed Harris of the suspension, and (2) Wallace allegedly informing an individual at another company, Textile Rubber, that Harris was suspended. (R. pp. 730-36.)

With respect to the telephone call between Wallace and Harris, there was no publication to a third party, as Harris admits that they were the only parties on the call.

(R. pp. 732-33.) Regarding Wallace's alleged statement to the Textile Rubber employee, Harris relies on inadmissible hearsay. Beyond being unable to specify any details about the alleged statement, Harris admits that "[t]he only information [he] h[as] is like second hand what George Henderson told [him]." (R. p. 735.) Thus, Harris cannot establish that any statement was published for the purposes of this motion. Even assuming Wallace had informed this individual Harris was suspended, that statement is wholly true and cannot be defamatory as a matter of law.

3. *Harris' February 2007 Ban from the Laboratory.*

Finally, Harris contended that being "banned from going to the laboratory building" in February 2007 was somehow defamatory. (R. pp. 695-96.) The only "statement" Tietex or the lower court have ever been able to infer from this allegation is when Wallace told Harris "not to enter the lab under any circumstances." (R. pp. 618-679.) While Wallace did make that statement, Harris has never even attempted to explain how the statement could be defamatory to Harris.

First, the statement was not about Harris, it was a work directive. Second, Wallace made that statement, and Tietex prohibited Harris from entering the lab, after Harris complained that the work conditions in the lab were detrimentally impacting his health. (R. pp. 609-16, 679.) Tietex and Harris jointly attempted to find a solution that would have allowed Harris to continue working in the lab without harming his health, but they were unable to do so. (*Id.*) After "banning" Harris from the lab, Harris admits Tietex made special purchases of equipment to allow him to set up a work area in a different location that would be better for his health. (R. pp. 621-23, 681.) These circumstances do not support any allegation of defamation.

III. SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPER UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL BASED ON THE FINAL, BINDING, AND CONCLUSIVE FINDINGS IN A PRIOR LAWSUIT BETWEEN THE SAME PARTIES INVOLVING THE SAME FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS.

Placing aside the absence of any genuine dispute as to the material facts in this matter, the lower court properly determined that the doctrine of collateral estoppel is fatal to Harris' claims. (R. pp. 21-23.) "Collateral estoppel, also known as issue preclusion, prevents a party from relitigating an issue that was decided in a previous action, regardless of whether the claims in the first and subsequent lawsuits were the same." *Carolina Renewal, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 385 S.C. 550, 554, 684 S.E.2d 779, 782 (Ct. App. 2009) (citing *Judy v. Judy*, 383 S.C. 1, 7, 677 S.E.2d 213, 217 (Ct. App. 2009)).

"The party asserting collateral estoppel must demonstrate that the issue in the present lawsuit was: (1) actually litigated in the prior action; (2) directly determined in the prior action; and (3) necessary to support the prior judgment." *Id.* (citing *Beall v. Doe*, 281 S.C. 363, 369 n.1, 315 S.E.2d 186, 189-90 n.1 (Ct. App. 1984)). Tietex met its burden to establish the presence of these elements.

Harris' claims in the First Action and his claims in this matter all rely on the same factual allegations, his contentions (a) that he was performing his job at Tietex at a level that met Tietex's legitimate expectations; (b) that the internal memoranda describing his performance deficiencies were false and defamatory; (c) that Tietex did not have a legitimate reason for terminating his employment; and (d) that Tietex's stated reason for terminating his employment was pretextual. However, the Federal Court considered all of these factual allegations in the First Action and made factual findings and conclusions that directly contradict Harris' version of the facts. (R. pp. 162-70, 175-78, 185-88, 190.)

The Federal Court's findings and conclusions were necessary and relevant for its determination of Harris' ADEA claims, and the same findings and conclusions are equally applicable to the following issues at the forefront of Harris' state law claims in the Second Action, among others: (a) whether Tietex was justified in terminating Harris' employment; (b) whether Tietex's internal memoranda regarding Harris' performance, on which Harris relies heavily to support his defamation claims, were substantially true; (c) whether Tietex exhibited any actual malice or otherwise exceeded the scope of the qualified privilege with respect to the internal memoranda regarding Harris' performance; (d) whether Tietex conspired to replace him with a younger employee, as alleged in the Amended Complaint; (e) whether Tietex engaged in a campaign to set up Harris for failure, as alleged in the Amended Complaint; (f) whether Tietex intentionally made it impossible for Harris to perform his job duties, as alleged in the Amended Complaint; (g) whether Tietex put forward false and defamatory reasons for the termination of Harris' employment, as alleged in the Amended Complaint; and (h) whether Tietex terminated Harris' employment based on pretextual reasons, as alleged in the Amended Complaint.

Harris "actually litigated" all of these issues in the First Action, in which he (a) submitted a brief in opposition to Tietex's motion for summary judgment; (b) submitted written objections to the Magistrate Order; (c) appealed to the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, which affirmed the Federal Court's decision; (d) filed a petition for rehearing with the Fourth Circuit, which was denied; and (e) submitted a letter to the Federal District Court requesting further review after exhausting all avenues with the Fourth Circuit, which was rejected.

All of these issues were “directly determined” and were “necessary to support the prior judgment” in the First Action, as the Federal Court expressly relied on its findings and conclusions in granting Tietex’s motion for summary judgment. Harris attempts to narrow the preclusive effect of the Federal Court’s Orders by contending that (1) “[t]he only issue decided by the District Court was that Harris failed to prove age-based discrimination under the ADEA,” and (2) none of the other facts summarized by the Federal Court and relied upon by the lower court here were “actually determined.” (Appellant’s Initial Brief at 7.) These misplaced contentions evidence (1) an improperly narrow application of the doctrine of collateral estoppel, and (2) a misunderstanding of employment discrimination law.

With respect to Harris’ first contention, it is simply inaccurate to allege that the only issue the Federal Court decided “was that Harris failed to prove age-based discrimination under the ADEA.” This improperly narrow application of collateral estoppel ignores the clear case law holding that “collateral estoppel bars relitigation of the same facts or issues necessarily determined in the former proceeding.” *Pye*, 325 S.C. at 436, 480 S.E.2d at 460 (emphasis added) (citing *Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Employers Ins. of Wausau*, 284 S.C. 234, 325 S.E.2d 566 (Ct. App. 1985)). Harris is essentially attempting to conflate the doctrines of collateral estoppel (issue preclusion) and *res judicata* (claim preclusion), as the “issue” he identifies is actually a “claim” the Federal Court decided. *See id.* (“*Res judicata* bars relitigation of the same cause of action while collateral estoppel bars relitigation of the same facts or issues necessarily determined in the former proceeding.”).

A proper application of the doctrine of collateral estoppel demonstrates that all facts and issues the Federal Court necessarily determined in the First Action are entitled to preclusive and binding effect, which includes the facts set forth above that are fatal to Harris' defamation claims. Harris simply cannot overcome the fact that the statement of relevant facts set forth above is essentially a verbatim recitation of the Federal Court's findings of fact. (*Compare* Facts *supra*, with R. pp. 162-70 (Magistrate's findings of fact), and R. p. 190 (adopting and incorporating entire Magistrate Order).)

Harris' second inaccurate contention, that the facts summarized by the Federal Court and relied upon by the lower court here were not "actually determined" in the First Action, disregards what the Federal Court was obligated to determine to grant summary judgment on Harris' ADEA claim. The Federal Court expressly held that Harris "was not performing his job at a level that met [Tietex's] legitimate expectations."¹² (R. pp. 175, 185-87.)

In order to reach this conclusion, the Federal Court had to make numerous findings of fact—based on evidence viewed in a light most favorable to Harris—regarding the facts and circumstances leading up to the termination of Harris'.

¹² The lower court recognized this holding in its September 23, 2013 Form 4 Order denying Tietex's initial Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. p. 33 ("Specifically, the District Court found that the plaintiff was not performing his job duties at a level that met his employer's legitimate expectations at the time of the adverse employment action.")) However, the lower court then erroneously applied the collateral estoppel doctrine too narrowly, concluding that the Federal Court's findings "were applicable solely to the ADEA claim." (*Id.*) While the Federal Court did reach this conclusion—based on numerous findings of fact—in granting summary judgment on Harris' ADEA claim, that conclusion and the underlying findings of fact are binding against Harris with respect to any claim between these parties. *Carolina Renewal*, 385 S.C. at 554, 684 S.E.2d at 782 ("Collateral estoppel, also known as issue preclusion, prevents a party from relitigating an issue that was decided in a previous action, regardless of whether the claims in the first and subsequent lawsuits were the same." (emphasis added) (citing *Judy*, 383 S.C. at 7, 677 S.E.2d at 217)).

employment. The Federal Court did just that, summarizing its findings of relevant and necessary facts in the Orders. (R. pp. 162-70 (Magistrate's findings of fact), 190 (adopting and incorporating entire Magistrate Order).) It is those findings of fact on which Tietex relies, and those alone, all of which are entitled to preclusive and binding effect.

In light of the Federal Court's Orders, the lower court understandably concluded that it was "unable to imagine any set of credible facts Harris could present at trial that would support his claims without contradicting the findings and conclusions of the Federal Court. There is no evidence in the record that would accomplish this result, rendering summary judgment proper based on the doctrine of collateral estoppel." (R. p. 23.) The trial court was wholly correct in this conclusion, and summary judgment should be affirmed for this reason also.

IV. SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPER UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF RES JUDICATA AND THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS WITH RESPECT TO THE DEFAMATION CLAIMS HARRIS COULD HAVE RAISED BUT DID NOT RAISE IN HIS PRIOR LAWSUIT AGAINST TIETEX.

Harris admits that his First Action did not allege the following defamation claims: (1) his claim based on the February 9, 2007 e-mail from Wallace to Wilson (R. p. 697); (2) his claim based on Tietex suspending his employment in July 2007 (R. pp. 697-98); or (3) his claim based on Tietex "bann[ing] him from the laboratory" (R. p. 698). Rather, he first asserted the first two of these claims in his *pro se* Complaint in the Second Action, and he only identified his claim based on being banned from the lab in his deposition in the Second Action. Using the October 12, 2011, filing of his *pro se* Complaint as the date on which Harris asserted these claims (assuming the third of these claims relates back to that date), they are barred by the statute of limitations. Due to

Harris' failure to plead these claims in the First Action, they are also barred by the doctrine of *res judicata*.

The statute of limitations applicable to Harris' defamation claims is two years. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-550. The two-year statute of limitations runs from the date on which the allegedly defamatory statement was published, not from the time the statement was allegedly discovered. *Jones v. City of Folly Beach*, 326 S.C. 360, 369, 483 S.E.2d 770, 775 (Ct. App. 1997) (“[S]ummary judgment [should be granted] because South Carolina has not adopted the discovery rule in libel and slander cases.”). Harris' defamation claims based on (1) the February 9, 2007 e-mail from Wallace, (2) Tietex suspending his employment in July 2007, and (3) Tietex banning him from the lab in February 2007, are all based on “statements” that Tietex allegedly made in February and July 2007. Harris first alleged these claims in the Second Action, which he did not file until October 12, 2011. (R. pp. 697-98.) Thus, the trial court properly concluded that the two-year statute of limitations barred these claims.

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